ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 
1. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of first degree robbery as charged in Count Three of the Se-

cond Amended Information.  (CP 24) 

2. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of second degree assault as charged in Count Four of the 

Second Amended Information.   

3. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of second degree assault as charged in Count Five of the 

Second Amended Information. 

4. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of unlawful possession of a firearm first degree as charged 

in Count Seven of the Second Amended Information.   

5. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Jo-

seph Lee Shouse was an accomplice to any of the charged offenses.  

6. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that a real 

gun was involved for purposes of the firearm enhancements.   



7. Dismissal of Counts Eight and Nine with prejudice, after guilty 

verdicts were rendered, negates an essential element of first degree rob-

bery as charged in Counts One and Three.   

8. The record does not establish that the jury was given an oath as 

required by CrR 6.6. 

9. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Shouse of a fair trial un-

der the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitu-

tion and Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.   

10. The trial court committed multiple sentencing errors as fol-

lows: 

a). Counts One and Two merge; 

b). Counts Three and Four merge; 

c). Mr. Shouse’s offender score was miscalculated based upon the 

foregoing mergers; and 

d). Merger of the underlying offenses requires merger of applica-

ble firearm enhancements. 
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ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 
 

1. Did the State establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that any per-

sonal property was taken from “the person or in the presence” of Dawn 

Flood as charged in Count Three of the Second Amended Information?   

2. Did the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that an assault 

of Dawn Flood occurred as charged in Count Four of the Second Amend-

ed Information?   

3. Did the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that an assault 

of Julie Curry occurred as charged in Count Five of the Second Amended 

Information?   

4. Did the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, as charged in 

Count Seven of the Second Amended Information, that Mr. Shouse either 

had actual possession or constructive possession of a firearm?   

5. Did the State establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, accomplice 

liability as to any of the offenses as they pertain to Mr. Shouse?   

6. Did the State establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there 

was a real gun in order to impose firearm enhancements?   

7. When the trial court dismissed, with prejudice, Counts Eight and 

Nine of the Second Amended Information, following a jury verdict of 
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guilty on those counts, did the dismissal negate an essential element of the 

offense of first degree robbery as charged in Counts One and Three?   

8. Was the jury given an oath as required by CrR 6.6? 

9. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Mr. Shouse of a fair and 

constitutional trial when:  

a). Impeachment evidence was used as substantive evidence; 

b). A comment was elicited from a police witness on another 

witness’s credibility; 

c). A witness was questioned concerning her agreement to testi-

fy truthfully at trial; 

d). The prosecutor commented upon Mr. Shouse’s right to re-

main silent in closing argument; and  

e). Evidence outside the record was introduced in closing argu-

ment?   

10. Do second degree assault and first degree robbery merge 

(Counts One and Two; Counts Three and Four), and, if so, is Mr. 

Shouse entitled to be re-sentenced due to a miscalculated offender 

score?   

11. If the underlying offenses merge, do the enhancements on 

those offenses also merge? 
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STATEMENT OF CASE 

 

Mr. Shouse, Gary D. Engelstad, Jr., Octaviano Ramirez and Ismael 

Hinojos were charged “as principal or accomplice” by an Information filed 

on October 10, 2011.  The Information alleged two (2) counts of first de-

gree robbery and two (2) counts of first degree assault.  (CP 1) 

A motion to sever Mr. Shouse’s trial was filed on November 7, 

2011.  The severance motion was denied as to Mr. Engelstad and granted 

with regard to Mr. Ramirez and Mr. Hinojos.  (CP 7; RP 13, l. 23 to RP 

14, l. 2) 

An Amended Information was filed on November 14, 2011 adding 

an additional count of first degree robbery, an additional count of first de-

gree assault, one (1) count of first degree burglary, one (1) count of unlaw-

ful possession of a firearm first degree, one (1) count of first degree theft 

and one (1) count of second degree theft.  Firearm enhancements were in-

cluded in Counts One through Six.  (CP 13) 

A Second Amended Information was filed on November 15, 2011.  

One (1) count of first degree robbery was dropped.  The first degree as-

sault counts were now charged as second degree assault.  The count of 

first degree theft was reduced to second degree theft.  Mr. Shouse was ar-

raigned on the Second Amended Information that date.  (RP 20, ll. 12-22) 
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A jury trial commenced on November 15, 2011.  There is no indi-

cation in the record that the jury was given an oath.   

The trial involved an incident that occurred on October 20, 2010.  

The alleged victims were Gerald Moccardine, Dawn Flood and Julie Cur-

ry.  (RP 28, ll. 4-12; RP 28, l. 24 to RP 29, l. 1; RP 41, ll. 20-22; RP 104, 

ll. 21-23) 

Deputies from the Kittitas County Sheriff’s Office arrived at 1515 

Stephens Road.  Deputy Hadaller observed Mr. Moccardine with dried 

blood on his forehead and bruising on his cheek.  Mr. Moccardine ap-

peared to be upset and scared according to Deputy Vraves.  (RP 29, ll. 12-

15; RP 43, l. 24 to RP 44, l. 1; RP 48, ll. 13-15) 

Ms. Flood, who formerly dated Mr. Moccardine’s son, was work-

ing for him on October 20, 2010.  She knows Mr. Shouse.  (RP 175, ll. 14-

26; RP 176, ll. 3-5; RP 219, ll. 16-17) 

Mr. Shouse and Mr. Engelstad came to Mr. Moccardine’s 

scrap/junkyard prior to October 20.  They were looking for property which 

Mr. Shouse believed that Mr. Moccardine had taken.  (RP 177, l. 17 to RP 

178, l. 12) 

When Mr. Engelstad and Mr. Shouse arrived on October 20 Ms. 

Curry took her dogs to her van.  She remained in the van most of the time.  

While she was in her van Mr. Shouse introduced himself and had a con-
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versation with her.  (RP 192, ll. 1-6; RP 407, ll. 10-17; RP 418, l. 13 to RP 

419, l. 3; RP 420, ll. 3-19; RP 423, ll. 22-24) 

Mr. Moccardine did not have any conversation with Mr. Shouse 

that evening.  He barely remembers seeing him present outside his trailer 

door.  He asked Mr. Moccardine why the police had been called concern-

ing his prior visit.  (RP 192, ll. 14-18; RP 300, ll. 4-6; RP 357, l. 3; RP 

392, ll. 22-24; RP 393, ll. 11-18) 

After Mr. Shouse left Mr. Engelstad told Mr. Moccardine that he 

intended to take some alternators.  Mr. Moccardine told Mr. Engelstad that 

he was not going to take the alternators.  (RP 193, ll. 4-23) 

Mr. Engelstad threw an object which hit Mr. Moccardine in the 

head.  He then grabbed Mr. Moccardine’s wallet and removed $15.00 

from it.  (RP 194, ll. 9-24; RP 195, ll. 14-15; RP 196, ll. 2-5; RP 300, l. 24 

to RP 301, l. 1; RP 307, ll. 8-12; RP 308, ll. 17-19) 

Ms. Flood saw Mr. Engelstad pull out a gun when Mr. Moccardine 

dropped his hand toward his pocket.  Another person later came to the 

door of the trailer with what appeared to be a gun.  (RP 196, ll. 20-23; RP 

197, l. 4 to RP 197, l. 11; RP 199, l. 12 to RP 200, l. 8) 

Ms. Flood testified that no gun was ever pointed at her.  No one 

ever threatened her.  No one ever made physical contact with her.  (RP 

222, ll. 8-18; RP 239, ll. 12-19) 
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Mr. Moccardine believed that Mr. Engelstad had a gun; but was 

not entirely certain.  He observed an item that had an octagonal barrel.  He 

believed it was either an old gun or some type of tool.  (RP 309, l. 21 to 

RP 310, l. 1; RP 311, ll. 8-17; RP 359, l. 23 to RP 360, l. 1; RP 363, ll. 10-

14; RP 382, ll. 2-10; RP 385, ll. 6-10) 

Ms. Curry claimed that she was in the trailer when Mr. Engelstad 

pulled the gun.  The gun was pointed mainly at Mr. Moccardine.  She was 

standing near him.  She backed away from the situation to avoid endanger-

ing herself.  She left the trailer without any interference.  (RP 414, ll. 9-13; 

ll. 21-22; RP 415, l. 17 to RP 416, l. 17; RP 417, ll. 9-11) 

Neither Mr. Engelstand nor Mr. Shouse threatened her in any way.  

They never hit or touched Ms. Curry or Ms. Flood.  (RP 371, l. 19 to RP 

372, l. 5; RP 435, ll. 18-22; RP 445, l. 18 to RP 446, l. 1) 

While she was sitting in her van Ms. Curry did not see anybody 

putting anything into any other vehicles.  (RP 425, ll. 12-14) 

Ms. Flood claimed that her backpack was removed from her car.  It 

contained a Play Station, two bags of jewelry and a pair of binoculars.  

Mr. Shouse later apologized, stating that if anything of hers was taken he 

was not aware that it was occurring.  (RP 207, ll. 11-17; RP 209, l. 21 to 

RP 210, l. 9; RP 211, ll. 7-10; RP 213, l. 18 to RP 214, l. 6) 
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Cpl. Nale of the Kittitas County Sheriff’s Office conducted an in-

terview of Ms. Flood.  At trial he testified that she was “candid and open” 

and that her statement “wasn’t something false ….”  Following a sidebar 

the trial court ruled that the testimony concerned the Reid technique and 

was inadmissible.  The prosecuting attorney then asked the following 

question:   

Q. Is that a factor in your -- because I 

believe you testified that she was not being 

false with you that you had --  

MR. YOUNG:      Objection.  That’s exactly 

what we were talking about?   

THE COURT:      I’ll sustain the objection.   

(RP 87, ll. 18-25; RP 88, ll. 14-20; RP 88, l. 21 to RP 89, l. 16; RP 91, l. 

25 to RP 92, l. 7) 

Detective Clasen of the Ellensburg Police Department, and Depu-

ties Foster and Sinclair of the Kittitas County Sheriff’s Office conducted 

interviews of Stephanie VanCommen.  Ms. VanCommen has a child in 

common with Mr. Shouse.  (RP 112, ll. 21-22; RP 114, ll. 3-21; RP 122, 

ll. 24-25; RP 145, ll. 20-25; RP 156, ll. 10-11; RP 163, ll. 18-25; RP 164, 

ll. 19-24; RP 475, ll. 20-23) 
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Defense counsel argued a motion in limine concerning Ms. 

VanCommen’s statement that Mr. Shouse was in possession of a shotgun.  

The trial court denied the motion.  (RP 467, l. 11 to RP 469, l. 19) 

Ms. VanCommen appeared at trial wearing jail clothes and hand-

cuffs.  She stated that she was testifying based upon an agreement with the 

State concerning her pending charges and that she was required to testify 

truthfully.  (RP 499, l. 25 to RP 500, l. 8; RP 504, ll. 21-22; RP 512, l. 24 

to RP 513, l. 3) 

Ms. VanCommen admitted that she made a statement concerning 

Mr. Shouse’s possession of a shotgun.  She testified she originally lied 

about the shotgun. When she was interviewed on August 11 and August 

16  she denied that he had a shotgun.  She stated that she wanted to get 

Mr. Shouse in trouble because he was cheating on her.  (RP 488, l. 25 to 

RP 489, l. 15; RP 490, ll. 21-25; RP 493, ll. 21-23; RP 494, ll. 8-14; RP 

496, ll. 6-10; RP 496, l. 25 to RP 497, l. 2) 

The prosecuting attorney then re-called Detective Clasen to the 

stand.  Testimony concerning Ms. VanCommen’s December 31, 2010 in-

terview was allowed by the trial court over defense counsel’s objection.  

Ms. VanCommen neither signed that statement nor was it made under 

oath.  (RP 523, l. 3 to RP 526, l. 9; RP 526, l. 22 to RP 527, l. 10) 
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Deputies Foster and Sinclair were then re-called to the stand by the 

prosecuting attorney.  Deputy Foster testified that in his August 11, 2011 

interview with Ms. VanCommen she now claimed that Mr. Shouse did not 

have a shotgun.  Deputy Sinclair testified that in his August 16, 2011 in-

terview Ms. VanCommen again stated that Mr. Shouse did not have a gun.  

(RP 528, l. 1 to RP 531, l. 15; RP 532, l. 10 to RP 534, l. 24) 

Defense counsel’s motion to dismiss all charges against Mr. 

Shouse was denied.  (RP 547, l. 18 to RP 549, l. 2) 

Defense counsel renewed his severance motion and the dismissal 

motion after the defense rested.  Both motions were again denied.  (RP 

576, ll. 5-24) 

The trial court gave a limiting instruction with regard to Ms. 

VanCommen’s testimony.  Instruction 8 states: 

Certain evidence has been admitted in this 
case for only a limited purpose.  This evi-
dence consists of the out-of-court statements 
made by witness Stephanie VanComen.  The 
out-of-court statements made by Ms. 
VanComen may only be considered by you 
when determining Ms. VanComen’s credi-
bility.  You may not consider these out-of-
court statements for any other purpose.  Any 
discussions of these statements during your 
deliberations must be consistent with this 
limitation.   
 

(CP 109) 
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During closing argument the prosecuting attorney used the im-

peachment testimony involving Ms. VanCommen as substantive evidence.  

He also commented on Mr. Shouse’s silence over defense counsel’s objec-

tion.  The trial court did not rule on that objection.  (RP 645, ll. 20-23; RP 

646, ll. 9-18) 

The prosecuting attorney interjected testimony not in evidence.  

The first time defense counsel’s objection was overruled.  After that de-

fense counsel objected and was told it was argumentative.  (RP 648, l. 2 to 

RP 649, l. 1; RP 660, ll. 5-8; RP 662, ll. 3-20; RP 664, ll. 18-21) 

A jury found Mr. Shouse guilty on all counts.  It answered the spe-

cial verdict form concerning the firearm enhancements:  “Yes.”  (CP 155; 

CP 157) 

Defense counsel filed a motion for a new trial and/or arrest of 

judgment on December 2, 2011.  No supporting affidavits were included.  

(CP 159) 

Judgment and Sentence was entered on February 14, 2012.  An or-

der of dismissal with prejudice was entered on Counts Eight and Nine.  

The order was presented by the State.  The trial court then calculated Mr. 

Shouse’s offender score as twenty-one (21).  (CP 179; CP 240) 

Mr. Shouse had filed his Notice of Appeal on February 13, 2012.  

(CP 178) 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 
 
 

The testimony and evidence introduced by the State at trial was in-

sufficient to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and every element of 

first degree robbery as charged in Count Three.   

The testimony and evidence introduced by the State at trial was in-

sufficient to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and every element of 

second degree assault as charged in Counts Four and Five.   

The testimony and evidence introduced by the State at trial was in-

sufficient to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Shouse either ac-

tually or constructively possessed a firearm.   

The testimony and evidence introduced by the State at trial was in-

sufficient to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Shouse was an ac-

complice as to any offense.   

The testimony and evidence introduced by the State at trial was in-

sufficient to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that any weapon/firearm 

observed was a “real gun.”   
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Dismissal of Counts Eight and Nine negated an essential element 

required to establish first degree robbery as set forth in Counts One and 

Three.   

Cumulative error consisting of the lack of a jury oath, prosecutorial 

misconduct and deprivation of the right of allocution deprived Mr. Shouse 

of a fair trial.   

Multiple sentencing errors resulted in a miscalculated offender 

score and an erroneous sentence.   

 

ARGUMENT 
 

 

I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

 
Whenever there is a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence  

“… the relevant question is whether, after 
viewing the evidence in the light most fa-
vorable to the prosecution, any rational trier 
of fact could have found the essential ele-
ments of the crime beyond a reasonable 
doubt.”  Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 
319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed.2d 560 (1979). 
 

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).   

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is required by RCW 

9A.04.100(1).  It provides: 
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Every person charged with the commission 
of a crime is presumed innocent unless 
proved guilty.  No person may be convicted 
of a crime unless each element of such crime 
is proved by competent evidence beyond a 
reasonable doubt.   
 

A. COUNT THREE 

Count Three of the Second Amended Information states, in part: 

They, the said, GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR. 
and JOSEPH L. SHOUSE, in the State of 
Washington, as principal or accomplice on 
or about October 20, 2010, with intent to 
commit theft did unlawfully take personal 
property that the Defendant did not own 
from the person or in the presence of 
Dawn Flood, against such person’s will, by 
use or threatened use of immediate force, 
violence, or fear of injury to said person or 
the property of said person or the person or 
property of another, and in the commission 
of said crime and in immediate flight there-
from, the Defendant was armed with a dead-
ly weapon and/or displayed what appeared 
to be a firearm or other deadly weapon 
and/or inflicted bodily injury upon Dawn 
Flood; thereby committing the felony crime 
of ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE 
….   
 

Dawn Flood was not injured.   

No personal property was taken from the person of Dawn Flood.  

No personal property of Dawn Flood’s was taken in her presence.   

Personal property is within a victim’s pres-
ence when it is “‘within [the victim’s] reach, 
inspection, observation or control, that [she] 
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could, if not overcome with violence or pre-
vented by fear, retain [her] possession of 
it.’”  State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 
769-69, 790 P.2d 217 (1990) (first alteration 
in original) (quoting 4  CHARLES E. TORCIA, 
WHARTON’S CRIMINAL LAW § 473 (14th ed. 
1981)), review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1019 
(1990).   
 
     … The literal interpretation of taking 
something from another’s person would be 
to take something on the person’s body or 
directly attached to someone’s physical 
body or clothing.  That is consistent with 
one legal scholar’s definition.  3 WAYNE R. 
LAFAVE, SUBSTANTIVE CRIMINAL LAW § 
20.3(c) at 179 (2nd ed. 2003) (“Property is on 
the victim’s person if it is in [her] hand, a 
pocket of the clothing [she] wears, or is oth-
erwise attached to [her] body or [her] cloth-
ing.”).   
 

State v. Chamroeum Nam, 136 Wn. App. 698, 705, 150 P.3d 617 (2007).   

Ms. Flood’s personal property was in her car.  Ms. Flood was in 

Mr. Moccardine’s trailer.  She was not anywhere near her car when any-

thing was removed from it.   

Moreover, Ms. Flood was not threatened.  She did not feel threat-

ened.  In fact, she intervened in the confrontation between Mr. Engelstad 

and Mr. Moccardine.  (RP 197, ll. 21-23; RP 199, ll. 4-6; RP 222, ll. 8-18) 

As recently noted in State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 624-

25, 191 P.3d 99 (2008):   
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Robbery encompasses any “taking of … 
property [that is] attended with such circum-
stances of terror, or such threatening by 
menace, word or gesture as in common ex-
perience is likely to create apprehension of 
danger and induce a man to party with prop-
erty for the safety of his person.”  State v. 
Redmond, 122 Wash. 392, 393, 10 P. 772 
(1922) (emphasis added; see also 67 AM. 
JUR. 2D Robbery § 89 at 114, (2003) “The 
determination of whether intimidation was 
used is based on an objective test whether an 
ordinary person in … [that person’s] posi-
tion could reasonably infer a threat of bodily 
harm from the defendant’s acts.”).   
 

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, each and 

every element of the offense of first degree robbery as set forth in Instruc-

tion 25.  (CP 126; Appendix “A”) 

No property was taken from the person of Dawn Flood.  Any tak-

ing which occurred was outside her presence.  She was unaware of any 

taking until after events had unfolded.   

Neither force nor fear was used in the taking of any of her proper-

ty.   

The State’s case as to Count Three does not satisfy the test an-

nounced in State v. Green, supra.   

B. COUNT FOUR 

Count Four of the Second Amended Information states, in part:   
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They, the said, GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR. 
and JOSEPH L. SHOUSE, in the State of 
Washington, as principal or accomplice on 
or about October 20, 2010, did intentionally 
assault another person, to wit:  Dawn Flood 
with a deadly weapon, to wit:  handgun; 
thereby committing the felony crime of AS-
SAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE ….   
 

The trial court instructed the jury on all three (3) alternatives of 

WPIC 35.50.  (Appendix “B”)  The alternatives derive from the common 

law.  They were adopted in State v. Krup, 36 Wn. App. 454, 457, 676 P.2d 

507 (1984) and Peasley v. Puget Sound Tug & Barge Co., 13 Wn.2d 485, 

504, 125 P.2d 681 (1942).   

Ms. Flood was never touched, struck, cut or shot.  The first alterna-

tive is inapplicable as to her.   

There was no evidence introduced that Mr. Engelstad or Mr. 

Shouse intended to inflict bodily injury upon Ms. Flood.  No attempt was

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