FILED
June 13, 2013
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 30640-2-III
Consolidated with 30641-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

**GARY D. ENGELSTAD JR.,
JOSEPH L. SHOUSE,**

Appellants.

AMENDED RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Gregory L. Zempel WSBA # 19125
Attorney for Respondent
Kittitas County Prosecuting Attorney's Office
Kittitas County Courthouse
205 West 5th, Suite 213
Ellensburg, WA 98926 (509) 962-7520

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

crime is elevated to a higher degree by proof of another crime proscribed elsewhere in the criminal code. *State v. Atkins*, 130 Wash.App 395, 398, 123 P.3d 126 (2005)

It is clear from the *Freeman* case, that if the state, in order to prove the First Degree Robberies as charged and proved by the state, the state had to prove the defendants committed an assault in furtherance of the robbery, then merger would apply and the crimes could not be punished separately. In that case, given the charges and proof, the Court held that merger applied, because without the assault, the state would only have been able to prove a robbery in the second degree. **The key to the answer lies in how the state charged each crime and the facts as proven to the jury.** In this instance, First Degree Robbery charges could, and were proven without using the Second Degree Assaults as the basis for increasing the severity of the robberies.

This is so because of the way the robberies were charged, three alternatives presented for consideration, and the facts of the case. As noted above, the jury was not presented with evidence of bodily injury as the theory for the robberies taking place outside of the trailer, as was the case in both consolidated cases under review in *Freeman*. Therefore, the only evidence presented in support of the robberies was that the defendants were armed with a firearm or displayed a firearm in

committing the offenses. Therefore, legally, the crimes do not merge, as the assaults were not the basis for the increase in the degree of the robbery.

In terms of the facts, the defendants were only charged with two robberies against Moccardine and Flood. Both defendants however were charged with assaulting all three victims: Moccardine, Flood, and Curry. This is so factually for two reasons: One, Curry did not have anything taken from her; and two, after the assault committed upon Curry, she was allowed to depart the residence and remain in her vehicle.

The robberies of Moccardine and Flood, according to the state's theory and the evidence presented, took place after the assaults were committed against all three victims, after Curry was allowed to leave and after the trailer was vacated by all but the guard left in place. After the actual physical assault upon Moccardine took place, and after the guns were no longer being used to assault anyone, the robberies against Moccardine and Flood took place. And, while they were being held in the trailer while their items were being stolen, the defendants were armed with a firearm or displayed a firearm. There was a distinct separation of acts, legally and factually, although it can be argued that the crimes were incidental to one another. There was no violation of the double jeopardy provisions, and because there is no violation of the double jeopardy

provisions, there was no error committed by the trial court and the convictions and sentences should stand.

ii. Because the trial court ruled correctly on the issue of double jeopardy, the calculated offender score was correctly computed; Counts three and four, the assault second degree convictions were correctly not vacated; and the applicable firearm enhancements were properly applied.

Because the State believes that the Court correctly interpreted the law relating to merger of offenses/convictions, the State believes that there was no error in calculating the offender score. The State concedes, however, that if this Court reaches a different conclusion as to the issue of merger, then the sentences in these matters would have to be revisited.

The State would concede should this Court disagree with the trial Court's ruling on double jeopardy and merger, that the proper remedy would be a remand to the trial court for vacation of convictions. *State v. League*, 167 Wash.2d 671, 223 P.3d 493 (2009); *State v. Womac*, 160 Wash.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) The State would also concede that if any crimes were to be vacated based upon double jeopardy violations as to the Appellants that the firearm enhancements for such vacated convictions would also need to be vacated.

However, given the state's belief that the trial court correctly reviewed the facts of this case and correctly applied the law on merger to the counts as charged in the information, the state believes that no vacation of either charges or weapon enhancements are necessary or proper, given the method of charging the crimes and the facts produced at trial.

iii. The record does establish that the jury was in fact given an oath as required by CrR 6.6; and the defendants were not denied their right of allocution.

The Kittitas County Superior Court Clerk's minutes of proceedings, (CP 282) indicate that commencing at 9:57a.m. on November 15, 2011, the "Court commenced and addressed the jury panel regarding process of juror selection and gave the jury panel their oath. (CP 282) Later in the proceedings, according to that same document, at 12:45a.m., the jury panel had been selected and the jurors were sworn and impaneled (CP 283) A Clerk's minute entry is a public record relied upon by courts and parties to prove the existence of facts. Such entries have been characterized as a public record that memorializes facts as they occurred in court. *State v. Hubbard*, 169 Wn.App. 182, 279 P.3d 521 (2012). Because the jury was properly sworn in this case, and because the record supports such a finding, there was no error undermining the rights of the Appellants, Shouse and Engelstad.

Counsel for Shouse indicates that Shouse was denied his right of allocution, and this denial of a fundamental right deprived him of a fair trial. This is simply false and not supported by the record. It is clear that both Appellants were given the opportunity on February 9, 2012 to address the Court at sentencing to offer any allocution that they desired. This is reflected in the Clerk's minutes (CP 305-306). In addition, it is clear from the transcript of proceedings that both Appellants were given the opportunity to address the court at their sentencing. (RP 726, III. 23 to RP 727, III. 11; RP 728, III. 22 to RP 729, III. 19)

This argument fails as it is not supported by the record – the record supports that both defendants were given the opportunity for allocution. The convictions of the Appellants should not be overturned, nor should they should be granted a new sentencing hearing.

3. **THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, BUT IF THERE WERE ANY ERRORS, SUCH ERRORS WERE HARMLESS:**
 - i. **The trial court correctly allowed impeachment testimony to be elicited by law enforcement officers; the trial court properly instructed the jury on the limitations of such testimony; the impeachment testimony was not used as substantive evidence; and the prosecutor did not elicit testimony about the witness testifying truthfully and did not exploit such answer in closing.**

Appellants allege that the State improperly impeached Van

Comen after calling her as a witness. They allege that the improper impeachment consisted of testimony from the officers who had previously interviewed her, with the sole intention of using such impeachment as substantive evidence – to place a shotgun in the hands of Shouse. This misstates the testimony of Van Comen, as well as the arguments of the State.

The State placed Van Comen on their witness list based upon reaching an agreement with her concerning certain benefits that would come to her for testifying. (RP 499, III. 21 to RP 500, III. 8) Counsel for Shouse may have had more insight into the testimony that Van Comen was going to provide, as he brought a motion in limine relative to her testimony. Counsel for Shouse indicated that it would be improper to use the impeachment evidence as substantive evidence of possession of a firearm and requested that such impeachment not be allowed. (RP 467, III. 20-25; RP 468, III. 1-14) The State disagreed, as the relief requested was too broad. (RP 468, III. 20-25) The Court declined at that time to enter a motion limiting impeachment. (RP 469, III. 1-19)

Van Comen then testified and provided substantive evidence that was both helpful to the State, and not so helpful to the State. She provided evidence that was helpful to the defendants, and not so

helpful to the defendants. She was impeached to a certain extent by all three counsel, through her own testimony and that of the officers, and all three counsel sought substantive evidence that was believed helpful to their respective cases.

The State, rather than using the impeachment to prove Shouse was guilty of being a felon in possession of a firearm, in essence treated her statements, that he did not possess the shotgun as true, and utilized the fact that after that first false statement that she corrected, she did not subsequently change her testimony until trial.

Van Comen acknowledged that she still cared for Shouse, had regretted going to law enforcement and that she was offered something by the state to testify, indicating that what was offered was “To resolve my burglary charges help me get my kids back.” And she was asked by the State, “And it was conditioned upon your doing what in court? To which she responded, “Telling the truth.” (RP 499, II. 5 to 500 8)

Counsel for Shouse on cross examination inquired as to a dependency action involving her children and if someone said they would help with her case if she testified, to which she responded “They said they would help me resolve my burglary charge and help me with CPS.” (RP 512, II. 16 to 513, II. 22) At the conclusion of

the impeachment witnesses, the jury was excused for lunch and the Court indicated that they would craft a limiting instruction utilizing WPIC 55.30. (RP 538, II. 1 – 5) The Court did in fact give a limiting instruction, instruction number 8, (CP 109).

Appellants infer that the State, by having conversations about the shotgun, used that evidence to place a gun in Shouse's hands. Counsel partially quotes from a passage of argument about Van Comen's credibility, but leaves details out that put the conversation in its true context – not talking about a/the shotgun, but rather talking about jewelry. (RP 646 III, 6-17)

This argument has nothing to do with using impeachment evidence improperly as substantive evidence. It is an argument about pinning down whether or not the arguments about Shouse and Engelstad being victims were supported by any credible evidence. This was in reference to the strategy of Counsel to paint their clients as the victims. How this argument places a shotgun in Mr. Shouse's hands is a mystery.

It is true that the statements made to law enforcement about the shotgun's existence were used to impeach the credibility of Van Comen, but only in the context that she had the opportunity to correct

her prior statements, and did so as to the shotgun – she did not change her other prior statements until trial. That was the basis of impeachment, along with showing other discrepancies as to her trial testimony. And it was not used as substantive evidence, but to put her credibility into question after her trial testimony turned out not to be what was expected, as it was different from what she had previously told law enforcement.

All parties were allowed to use her direct testimony to support their theory of the case. The State used her testimony that was corroborated by other witnesses to support its theory of the case. Defendants used her testimony to make their arguments that supported their theory of the case. The impeachment evidence was limited by an instruction, and the State clearly limited the impeachment evidence to the purpose of her credibility, not as substantive evidence. At no time did the State in their closing argument refer to the shotgun, or infer that it was a proven fact that Shouse had a shotgun or that this supported a finding of felon in possession of a firearm.

A witness may be impeached with a prior out-of-court statement of a material fact that is inconsistent with her testimony in court, even if such a statement would otherwise be inadmissible as hearsay. *State v. Clinkenbeard*, 130 Wash.App. 552, 569, 123 P.3d

872 (2005) Where prior inconsistent statements are admitted as impeachment evidence, an instruction cautioning the jury to limit its consideration of the statement to its intended purpose is necessary and proper. *State v. Johnson*, 40 Wash.App. 371, 377, 699 P.2d 221 (1985).

The Court in Clinkenbeard indicated that in that case there were two questions presented to be answered concerning the issue of impeachment testimony:

First, did the State improperly use impeachment evidence as substantive evidence of guilt?

Second, if the impeachment statements were improperly used, was the remaining evidence sufficient to support the conviction?

In that case, the Court found that the state had used impeachment testimony/evidence as substantive evidence of guilt (only reason to illicit out of court child declarant's statement about rape was to prove she was raped). They also found that such evidence was the only evidence of the essential element of sexual intercourse. Therefore, the Court vacated the conviction based upon the improper use of such evidence, finding that without the improper evidence there was insufficient evidence to convict the defendant.

It is clear from the full context of the questions and answers presented on this issue, that the state did not simply call Van Comen to

the stand to impeach her statement about a shotgun. The State did not argue the impeachment evidence as substantive evidence to claim that Shouse had a shotgun and was therefore guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm. The use of this witness, and the testimony sought to corroborate evidence for the State's theory of the case is more akin to the factual pattern deemed appropriate in *State v. Lavaris*, 106 Wash.2d 340, 721 P.2d 515 (1986). Even if this Court were to find that the state had improperly utilized impeachment testimony improperly, there was sufficient other evidence to support the convictions, as previously discussed.

The secondary issue had to do with the answer provided by Van Comen as to telling the truth. The cases dealing with the issue of vouching for a witness discuss the improper impact of lending the full faith and credit of the state to the witnesses credibility, and discussing the impression that somehow the state had an ability to have witnesses testify truthfully, or to know when they are not testifying truthfully. See, for example, *State v. Ish*, 170 Wash.2d 189, 241 P.3d 389 (2010). It should be very clear from the questioning of Van Comen, and the arguments made by the state, that a representative of the state was not vouching for the credibility of the witness.

ii. The state did not intentionally elicit testimony from

a police witness as to another witness' credibility, but the fact that such testimony occurred is harmless error.

Appellants allege that Corporal Nale impermissibly commented on the credibility of Ms. Flood indicating this his testimony was that she appeared truthful and was not falsifying anything she was stating to him . Appellants further allege that the prosecuting attorney persisted in questions concerning Ms. Flood's credibility, even after a sidebar. Appellants correctly note that there was an objection which was sustained, but complain that the jury was not instructed to disregard the testimony.

A review of the questioning could support appellants' statements about the prosecutor's further questioning, but it is also possible that the state intended to clarify the earlier unsolicited testimony about Ms. Flood being open and candid. Appellants also fail to mention that neither counsel requested the Court to instruct the jury to disregard the testimony and that neither counsel requested that the testimony be stricken. (RP 87, I. 10 to RP 92, I, 7) Appellants also fail to mention that the jury was properly instructed on their role in determining the credibility of witnesses. (CP 100-103) Finally, appellants' fail to mention that the state did not use or seek to exploit the testimony in any fashion in closing argument.

The state does not disagree with the general discussion of the law in appellants' briefs. However, there is an overreliance upon *State v. Barr*, 123 Wash.App. 373, 98 P.3d 518 (2004), which dealt with statements by a police officer as to his opinion regarding the manifestations of the defendant's guilt. The court in *Barr* articulated a four-step process for determining whether an error is a manifest constitutional error: (1) we first determine whether the alleged error is in fact a constitutional issue; (2) next, we determine whether the error is manifest, that is, whether it had "practical and identifiable consequences"; (3) we then address the merits of the constitutional issue; and (4) finally, we pass upon whether the error was harmless. *State v. Barr*, 123 Wash.App. 373, 380, 98 P.3d 518 (2004).

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